Tte “WNew” Bleffton Cemetery
D Built

Bleffton Was Doomed
From the Start

ittle did the average Bluffton settler know,

but the community of Bluffton was effective-
ly doomed to its destruction from its inception.
One day in 1854, a young surveyor named Adam
Rankin Johnson, while surveying along the Colo-
rado River, carved two crosses into solid granite,
just above an island covered with pecan trees, on
each side of the river. Over the years, no one had
an idea that these crosses would change the lives
of the Bluffton settlers forever.!
Young Adam Johnson went on to serve his

country, the Confederate States of America,
and rose to the rank of general, before returning to
Burnet, a blinded veteran of a bloody and sense-
less war between neighbors, brothers, and friends.
He was captured by the Yankees, and served the
rest of the war as a prisoner of war. Upon his re-
lease after the war, he returned to Burnet County,
where he lived for his remaining sixty years.

n 1889, Johnson commissioned T. A. Cham-
berlain to sketch a “proposed dam across the

Colorado River” at Shirley
Shoals.? He never acted on this, =~
though he had bought some ten =
acre sites at Shirley Shoals, on &
the Colorado, and had the wa- | &
ter rights that went with them.®
(Remember the 2 X’s?)

dam Johnson founded eSS

the town of Marble Falls, &
known as “the blind man’s Eiams
town.” He built a dam across
the Colorado River at Marble
Falls to produce electric power, &=
only to go broke. Adam John- &
son died in 1922, before realiz- "
ing his dream of a dam across “Sketch of Pro
the Colorado River at the Shir-

==

pased Dam Across the Colorado River - drawn in 1889

ley Shoals, a spot he had selected some 68 years
earlier, just for this purpose.

alk had gone on for years about a dam some-

where in the vicinity of Bluffton or Tow, but
nothing had happened. In about 1926, a young
Tow boy, Herman (Pete) Alexander was paid eight
dollars a month to check the depth of the water
under the Tow Bridge.® Little did he know that he
was being paid by another Alexander, a Charles
H. Alexander (no kin to Pete), who was the same
man who had gone broke with Adam Johnson in
Marble Falls. He had formed a company, Syndi-
cate Power Company, and had the rights to build
six dams on the Colorado River. Seeking fund-
ing, he partnered with Samuel Insull, and through
some tense business dealings, he eventually bro-
kered a deal with Emery, Peck and Rockwood in
1929, to build a dam at the Shirley Shoals site,
a spot picked by Adam Johnson, some 75 years
earlier.5

0, the people of Bluffton were soon going to

lose their community to progress. Soon, they
were being forced to sell their properties, and
move on to other places away from the river.

el
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18 The History of the Bluffton Cemetery

uilding the new dam, initially called “Hamil- he company building the dam was very help-
ton Dam”, meant that the entire area of Bluff- ful to the people of Bluffton, by helping them
ton would soon be covered by as much as 60-80 in every phase of organizing the relocation of the
ft. of water, and the occupants of their cemetery Old Bluffton Cemetery. The petitions mentioned

would be covered too. here were all transcribed to typewritten form, and
the company helped in every way possible. This

rite . / also included providing initial legal help, until the
7 S people could get organized to the point of secur-

y 1930, the people of the
Bluffton area knew they
had to take action. Early in
1930, (sometime in January
- March) petitions were cir-
culated to see if the citizens
were interested in the Bluff-
ton Cemetery, were in favor
of moving their cemetery, or
leaving it where it was.’
he response to the peti-
tions was immediate
and overwhelming. The first
petition, a petition to deter-
mine whether the citizens
of Bluffton were interested
in the outcome of their be-
loved old cemetery resulted
in over 125 signatures, local,
area wide, and as far away as
New Mexico and Oklahoma.
The second petition sought
to find out who was in favor of, and who
was opposed to, relocating the cemetery,
and moving the remains of those interred
in the current Old Bluffton Cemetery.
Those in favor of moving the graves to a
new cemetery totalled almost 150 people,
again from as far away as New Mexico,
Oklahoma, and Tennessee. The list for
those opposed to moving the graves to a
new cemetery was signed by four indi-
viduals, all local.
0, by an overwhelming number,
those of Bluffton origin wanted their
departed loved ones moved, so that they
would not be forever lost under the waters
of the lake to come.

“First Page from Petition in favor of the Cemetery Location, and the
Petition of those opposed to moving the cemetery”

“A Fitting Place of Reat”
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ing their own. Soon, this would be the case as the
people very quickly started the next phase, orga-
nizing the Bluffton Cemetery Association.

Tte Bleffton Cemetery

By May of 1930, the initial organization of the
Bluffton citizens had begun. In a letter dated
May 2, 1930, to “Mesdames, Parks,
Casner, Hallmark, Davis, and Miss
Ligon” from Emery, Peck, & Rock-
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different undertaker companies to determine the
costs, and logistics for moving the remains of
those interred in the Old Bluffton Cemetery. Es-
timates had been made as to the cost of building a
new cemetery and moving the graves to this new
cemetery. A telegram dated May 13, 1930, to the
home offices of Emery, Peck, and Rockwood De-
velopment Co., of Chicago, Illinais, estimated the
cost of relocating the cemetery at $15,000 for the
relocation of about 400 graves.’® This telegram
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of Bluffton for their actions, and con-
gratulated the ladies for being selected
for the initial committee to “supervise
the removal and re-establishment of
the Bluffton Cemetery.”® Addition-
ally, Swick offered the assistance of
Emery, Peck, & Rockwood for the
organization of a formal cemetery as-
sociation, suggested the fledgling or-
ganization hire an attorney, purchase
land for a new cemetery which the
company would pay for, and provide
funds for the entire process of mov-
ing the graves from the Old Bluffton
Cemetery. From the letter, it was
obvious that Emery, Peck, and Rockwood was
wanting to do everything possible to relocate the
old cemetery properly, responsibly, and in a good-
faith manner of doing business.

n this same date, May 2, 1930, Swick sent

Ray Summerrow, the local representative
of Emery, Peck, and Rockwood in Marble Falls,
Texas a letter which included a “Form of Resolu-
tion.” This resolution spelled out the intentions
of Emery, Peck, and Rockwood, as well as the re-
sponsibilities of the people of Bluffton.®

hings were happening fast at this time. The

“Company”, Emery, Peck, and Rockwood,
had hired an Austin company, Page Brothers,
Architects, to design the proposed New Bluffton
Cemetery. The Company had also contacted four
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“Telegram to Emery, Peck & Rockwood seeking approval”

was a request to approve this amount. The newly
forming Bluffton Cemetery Association was hav-
ing a meeting the following Saturday, May 20, so
the local Company managers wanted to have ev-
erything in order.
Over fifty Bluffton citizens met on Saturday
afternoon, May 20, 1930, in the Bluffton
School House and the Bluffton Cemetery Asso-
ciation was born.** A new committee was select-
ed, which consisted of Miss W. Ligon, Mrs. Tad
J. Casner, Mrs. Lillie Benton, Mrs. Will J. Parks,
Mrs. George Meadors, Mr. W. J. Hallmark, & Mr.
Ross Holland. Miss Ligon was elected as chair-
man of the newly selected committee.
epresenting the company, F. A. Dale, of the
Austin office, and Ray Summerrow, of Mar-
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“Bluffton School House where Sept. 20, 1930
Meeting Was Held”
Building is currently behind the existing
Bluffton Post Office.

ble Falls, explained the work that had been done
to date, described the proposed new cemetery,
and told of the four undertaker companies that
had been contacted. The design of the entrance to
the new cemetery was said to be “very attractive”
and was to have masonry walls, metal gates, and
a terra-cotta tile roof over the chapel.

he meeting adjourned with plans for future

meetings. These included the discussion of
procedures for moving the deceased, hearing the
wishes of the community, and looking for land for
a new cemetery.

t least two more meetings were held by May

30, 1930, and a news release to the papers
of Llano, Burnet, and Marble Falls was issued. It
was reported that (a) no graves would be moved
until work on the dam was well underway, (b)
permission of relatives would be secured before
a grave would be moved, also prior notice of any
move would be given said relatives, and (c) bod-
ies would be relocated to the relatives’ cemetery
of choice.’? There was a lot of scepticism as to
whether a dam would actually be built, and Emery,
Peck, and Rockwood wanted to assure everyone
of their intentions. It is interesting what would
occur in less than two years from this time.
So, the people were getting organized. In the

next few months, they would be working on
a charter for the organization, bylaws, land selec-
tion for the new cemetery, design and construction
of the new cemetery, and formulating the methods
for the relocation of their loved ones to this new
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cemetery.

Parnctiase of Land

hile the initial efforts of setting up the new
association were occurring, efforts were
also being made to secure land for a New Bluffton
Cemetery. By July of 1930, a six acre parcel of
land owned by Ross Holland became the property
of choice.
t is not known how this property was chosen,
or who made the decisions for this property.
However, six acres of land, along then highway
29, about three miles east of Lone Grove, and
eight and a half miles west of Old Bluffton, on
the southwest corner of the Ross Holland Ranch
was selected. The land was generally level, with
a gradual slope from the northwest corner, to the
southeast corner of the property.
mery, Peck, and Rockwood agreed to pay
Mr. Holland five hundred dollars for this six
acres, an extremely reasonable amount for land at
the time. This was during the onset of the Great
Depression of the 30’s, and one might be lucky to
get maybe ten dollars per acre for land: Mr. Hol-
land was paid over $80 per acre for his land!
Correspondence in the Bluffton Cemetery Ar-
chives record the steps that were necessary
to assure Holland had clear title to the land. This
required that a title search be done, and an ab-
stract for the land be prepared, which took several
months.
Next, the parties involved, which included
representatives from the Company, the cem-
etery association, and Mr. Holland, had to con-
clude the sale. Finally, getting it deeded over to
the association would allow construction on the
new cemetery to proceed.
otable names in state and local history
worked on this phase, and subsequent work
in the cemetery relocation process. The attorney
for Emery, Peck, & Rockwood was Senator Alvin
J. Wirtz. He was a recognized attorney in Aus-
tin, and was appointed as the first general counsel
to both Emery, Peck, and Rockwood, and later,
LCRA. He served prominently in the business

“A Fitting Place of Rest”
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of forming the Bluffton Cemetery Association,
the business of moving the old cemetery, and the
business in general of building the dam, later to
be renamed, Buchanan Dam. Senator Wirtz was
instrumental in preparing the legal documents re-
quired by the fledgling Bluffton Cemetery Asso-
ciation, advice, and overall oversight of the proj-
ect of relocating the Old Bluffton Cemetery.
enator Wirtz was prominent in the history of
the creation of the Highland Lakes. The dam
for Lake Lyndon B. Johnson (originally Lake
Granite Shoals), was named the Alvin J. Wirtz
Dam, in his honor.
irtz did not serve without danger as well.
As quoted from C. L. Yarbrough’s CAN-
YON OF THE EAGLES:
“On January 26 (1934), a retired United
States Marshall named Tom Holloman,
convinced that Wirtz had unfairly ma-
nipulated against him in a land damage
suit, walked into Wirtz’s office and start-
ed shooting. G. W. Peck of Emery, Peck
and Rockwood was visiting with Wirtz
at the time, and he was shot to death.
Wirtz somehow escaped injury.”*
Another well known personage in the Llano
area was attorney Wilburn Oatman. Mr.
Oatman was selected as the attorney to represent
the Bluffton Cemetery Association. He served as
a legal attorney for the association, and also pre-
pared abstracts for different lands as they affected
the association.
In a meeting of the citizens of Bluffton held
on September 6, 1930, at the Biuffton School
House, it was formally announced that land had
been selected for the new cemetery; land de-
scribed earlier as the six acres which belonged to
Ross Holland. The committee requested a vote
to approve this transaction, and it was approved
by a “rising vote.” Representatives from Emery,
Peck, and Rockwood, stated they would proceed
with the purchase and deed it for a new cemetery
as soon as some organization had been formed
to take title to the land.”® Finally, on October
25, 1930, the sale was completed, and the deed
was conveyed to the Bluffton Cemetery Associa-
tion.
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Ttie Bleffton Cemetery
Assaciation ¢ Formalized

ven while work was being done to purchase

the land for the new cemetery, work was also
being done to formalize the creation of the Bluff-
ton Cemetery Association. In the same meet-
ing of September 6, 1930, mentioned earlier, the
Bluffton Cemetery Association was formed.

he minutes of the meeting stated that “The

next business considered was the formation
of a cemetery association which could handle in
orderly fashion the matters pertaining to the own-
ership and conduct of the cemetery.” After “care-
ful consideration and discussion”, a “rising” vote
was held and it was decided to incorporate the
cemetery association.

he first trustees, or directors (five), nominated

and elected “by individual vote” were: Mose
Benton, Ross Holland, Frank Beal, Charles Bak-
er, and A. Chism,
As stated in the minutes, “membership in the

association would consist of all persons tak-
ing lots in the new cemetery and these members
will elect their trustees or directors as vacancies
occur and will adopt such rules as they may see fit
regarding the new cemetery.”

he Company then said that construction on the

new cemetery would proceed as soon as title
to the land was conveyed to the association. As
seen in the previous section, this occurred about
seven weeks later, on October 25, 1930.
In a meeting held on September 20, 1930, the

newly selected directors employed attorney

Wilburn Oatman. He was to prepare bylaws for
the Bluffton Cemetery Association, and to prepare
papers for the land transfer from Emery, Peck, and
Rockwood.

he charter establishing the Bluffton Cem-

etery Association was submitted to the Texas
Secretary of State’s office, was approved, and
formally issued during the first week of October,
1930.%" In a meeting of the trustees dated Novem-
ber 24, 1930, proposed bylaws for the association
were submitted to the directors by attorney Wil-
burn Oatman for their approval.®® These bylaws

“A Pitting Place of Reot”
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were based upon example bylaws provided by
Senator Wirtz, earlier in the year. The newly pre-
pared bylaws were subsequently approved by the
directors. However, the exact date of the actual
approval is unknown. Unfortunately, the charter
issued by the state of Texas and the signed set of
bylaws is not in the Bluffton Cemetery Associa-
tion Archives. (See Appendix A)

o, after almost a year of work by dedicated

members of the Bluffton community, the
Bluffton Cemetery Association was formally (and
legally) established, and preparations for the re-
location of the Old Bluffton Cemetery were well
underway. It cannot be over-emphasized about
the efforts and expertise of the Emery, Peck, and
Rockwood, Development Co., Senator A. J. Wirtz,
and attorney Wilburn Oatman. It was through
their guidance and leadership that the people of
the little town of Bluffton were able to organize
in such a professional manner.

@emeteu;

y the time ground was broken for the New

Bluffton Cemetery, a lot of work had already
occurred. Even before land had been purchased
for the new cemetery, the company had been busy
planning for the new cemetery. As said earlier,
an architectural firm by the name of Page Broth-
ers had been commissioned to design the New
Bluffton Cemetery. In the November 24, 1930,
meeting of the Bluffton Cemetery Association di-
rectors, the design proposed by the company was
approved unanimously.*®

enerally, the cemetery was to have a stone

wall along the main highway, now Ranch
Road 2241. A chapel with a terra-cotta tile roof
was to be built, ornamental metal gates were to be
built across the entrance, and a circular fountain
was to be built immediately inside the entrance,
on the main driveway which went north-south
through the middle of the entire cemetery.

he cemetery would consist of 302 lots, each

lot containing 8 to 10 graves. Each lot would
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measure 20° by 20°. Lots 1 through 140 were to
be on the west side of the cemetery, while lots 141
through 302 would be on the east side.

Imost immediately after the land was pur-

chased and deeded to the association, work
began on the new cemetery. Actually, work had
already been happening at the new cemetery site.
Records show payments to Foster Casner and
Willford Stephenson for clearing the new 6 acre
cemetery, even before the sale had been formally
completed. They were each paid $18 for the week
ending August 9, 1930, and $6 for the days of Au-
gust 11 and 12, 1930.%° It appears they were each
being paid $3 per day.

he supervision responsible for the construc-

tion of Hamilton Dam, which included F. A.
Dale and Ray Summerrow, were under extreme
pressure to get the deceased moved out of the ba-
sin that would form the lake. There were hopes
by Emery, Peck, and Rockwood to have Hamilton
Dam completed as early as late 1932, at least by
the summer of 1933. But, water could not be cap-
tured by the new
dam until all ...
of the grave re- %
movals  were Horial Ponks
completed. S0, | en s - e s
the  pressure " con rmer v cocomesn
was on to get
these grave re- - T s LT Y Wogps
movals  com- 12l Prandihid : =
pleted as soon — | feeses

=" |- C
J &0 |

as possible. — T
S soon as —
the cem- —

etery associa- - : —

tion had posses- .

sionoftheland, — 1

construction — L1

began in ear-— |||

nest. Bids had ' S

already  been

obtained for
things such as
the ornamental iron gates for the entrance, terra-

cotta tile to used for the roof of the chapel, well,

Aoy~

“Example Bid for Ornamental Gate
for Cemetery Entrance”
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Sca.a - Y N

“Plat of the New Bluffton Cemetery”
This plat was a resurvey of the cemetery done in September of 1945
Llano County Clerk’s Office

“A Pitting Place of Reot”

- Ao KT Fae "
. 2
hj $¥
2 Lo . i ]
™= L ™" o LEm e o e ' r bl I It Il i i il Bl it -
Wise | ias | vma | oar | 2o | sa9 | 120 wus | tws | 232 | 3er [ awa | 3m8  seoo | sos JM?. H
1
A +—1
s | voz | we | cao | sae | e | sar P nos | ams | s | 290 | sae [ anm raw 28w | aas,
. —
. . H
Srae | ear szd | szs | rra | 25 | soe . are | arr | era | avm | zee I 28 [ zpz | 28> | 2ma
iz-ri 8 | T e | o |tk | e ’ &7F | ars | g7¥ l zre | 2w ro - 269 | zek | 2oy
e | S i
7y o
{2}0! v | cop | dom | sa8 | se0 | s | pe2 " 254 | 859 | 260 | 26/ | moe | aas I zas | ses .!sa‘&
i . I
2}.0‘ a3 OB ed o0 o9 a8 av . " FEid 256G 2165 ] asa | 253 258 | 2sr 250 zao
|
Can| a0 | 2¢ | @2 | 23| 22| 22| e =L 2do | #av | 2ee | 243 | ras | 245 l 246 | zav | peal
* .
Eag| ar| Ba | a5 ms| =2 Az s - 238 | 23 | 237 | 23a | 29F | 20a | ans | z3a | 2ns
- l - + %
. S
‘ E 7 7£ 7 76 T A , 7o | &0 e 222 | 233 | z2a | gaf gar.l 287 | aam | amw 3»4‘ ¥
£ . < : N K
: . { }
|3 72 7r o &9 am &7 I L33 LES v 280 a10 | 218 | 218 | 27 Tam 2.5 | Bra a;_aﬁl E
. b @
I
I 1 1-
57| 58| 59| 0| &/ | 62| €2 | ca 204 | 205 | goa | 207 | o | 208 | 2r0 | 20 | 22D
1 K sa| s5| s | 53| 52| 50| 50| 20 . 203 | moz | 20; | 220 | s89 | i2a I;” ivs | 125
1 L s
g 0k - R 7 1 ol
s L 1Y -
3 “ 4 | 2] 23| 44| 45| so]| a7 | 4n Ly 86 | 1oy | saa | mo ' rmo | ser | ss2 |s93 | e z
: F N 4
g s 40| 39| sm | a7 | 2| 35| 52| 32 ".>..- I T | »
;, T 185 | ye. ) pan | 282 1 80 i 80 | 478 | 478 | 7N |k
b 5
™ - s - -
q Ne -
& 9 z 29 z =) | - a
5 25| fe | E7 | ce sell R = isn | re9 | s7o | ypsr | a7z azs | ara | 75| sped ¥
TR r
ad el B 20 e L - : tep | ren | ras | sea | 183 | sz | var | o | 5m
Y J -
. \
T R B G B #52 | 153 | 58 | 158 | s5n | 257 |i5m ¥
= & K
S I 5 Y sor | sag | sas | sos | sas | a2 | e 8]
] Li] 2e; Fr L) z0 aoc | ie 1 e 28° 3o | ze"
> reEc— - TR m——l
. ,
<
G’
3
z
F
2
=
1, -
, PARKING SPACE PRAKING  TFACE
)
1
=
Ty
»
’ cmares
STONE WAk EPONE A -
-n*m—z::r' e S AR 20 - —
'{” PREPERTY i : TAEEr T EXTT L Lk £ ” e B e e |
T b " Ao e T
— Llamo. lowa Greve, Tow .and Efuf'f.l‘:u Aead o
i
llane County Tn Fobic Read
PLAT OF WNEW BLUFFTON CEMETERY
Rasnrvaysd Fapt f945 L Ao -
By W S Chunn, Licens:tL Stafe Land Survover W™ Farls Holiwma
Bedlr Clawsar
drte Far
o . - x Chimead Mg wall
LEGEND : Tron Ffin ia Concrefe Sef in srouncd . » Shomier Ligam ;




24

and other trim, and fencing (wire, posts, staples ,
etc.) around the cemetery. The land was cleared,
some cattle pens that were on the property were
relocated to another part of the Holland Ranch,
the cemetery was surveyed and began to be laid
out, and masonry work began on building the
fence along the front of the cemetery, the chapel,
and the well.

hree men are known to have done all of the

masonry work. They were Wiley Johnson,
David Hallmark, and his son Aubrey Hallmark.
Wiley laid all of the stone, David mixed all of
the concrete (or mud), and Aubrey hauled sand
from nearby Miller Creek (.7 of a mile to the
east). Bill Hallmark (92 years old), double-first
cousin to Aubrey, and nephew to David recalls
that Aubrey told him of hauling all of the sand by
a mule drawn wagon. He would go
to Miller Creek, manually load the i
wagon, one shovel at a time, and ;

then, he, and his two mules, Kit| = [Ze= oon

and Kate, would head back to the |
cemetery construction site. But, he s

had an ingenious way of unloading | & ° ,
his wagon. Aubrey told Bill that| ~ & - =~ )

he had the bottom boards of his
wagon just lying loose in the bot-
tom of the wagon. When he started
loading the wagon at Miller Creek,
he would make sure they were laid
flat to make a floor, then he would
load the wagon. However, when
he got back to the cemetery, he
would dig down in the sand to the
bottom, then turn each floor board
up on its end, and the sand would ¢

drop through the bottom, “unload- Ly | ot

ing” itselfl? ML
ots were identified by survey
markers which identified the

lots on each of the four corners of

the marker. For example, for lots

1,2,15, and 16, a marker was placed

in the center of these four lots. The

marker was marked with the num-

bers 1 & 2 on the top left and right

The History of the Bluffton Cemetery

of the marker, and 16 & 15 on bottom left and
right of the marker. On the plat on page 23 these
survey markers can be seen, at the intersection of
every four lots.

y December
1, 1930, a re-
| port by the com-
| pany showed that
| about $4,275 had
een spent on the
) onstruction  of
O he New Bluffton
. | Cemetery, $3,775
= for construction on
the cemetery, and
$500 for the land
purchase.??  The

“Lot Survey Marker for lots 1, 2,
15, & 16

Lokits PEH I £ FVdElie

“Estimated Cost of Cemetery - December 2, 1930
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cemetery was nearing completion by the end of
the first quarter of 1931. The next phase would be
populating the cemetery with the deceased from
the Old Bluffton Cemetery, and those from other
areas in the basin of the Colorado River that would
be covered by the waters of Hamilton Dam.

Relocations to the
New Bleeffton
Cemetery

25

a body was moved, relatives had to sign permis-
sion forms which gave the association the rights
for the removal. Then, prior to moving any grave,
the association notified the families of the date
that the relocation would occur.

fter setting up the procedures for the relo-

cation of the graves, the first step was the
assignment of lots at the new cemetery for these
removals. Lot application forms were provided

he Blulften Cemetery Asgoointion
o M Ross Holland, Be

Even though a great amount
of work had been done thus

far, the major work remained. lig preforence as fo logatd
That was the relocation of the e

deceased to the new cemetery.

aretory

11 ha i plot.
on of plot would be in the vieinlty of Lot Nc.

w bupled in the present Blufrfter

First, all of the graves had to be Pt

located. Then, relatives had to

be located. Next, these relatives

had to give their permission for

the relocation of their loved

ones. Finally, the graves had =

to be moved. This was indeed ———
a monumental task.
port showed an estimate of 464
graves that would be have to be
moved, about 394 from the Old
Bluffton Cemetery.?®

mery, Peck, and Rockwood, " °

working through the Bluff-
ton Cemetery Association, tried
to be very considerate of the
wishes of those who were af-
fected by the grave removals.
This included giving relatives
the choice of whether to move
their family members, and, if the
deceased were to be moved, the
families could decide where the deceased would
be moved. Additionally, relatives were given free
lots at the New Bluffton Cemetery and were able,
for the most part, to select the locations of these
lots. The association not only gave lots for those
who were already deceased, and to be moved, but
also to anyone related to these deceased. Before

be eonslde

“\f\ o 14

One re- septing lota i:

» such Zraves re
5

._:_1;".1‘[{'].',' o : "

te mysalfl to
g herelin shall

he Wew Eluffton Cemetery
3tore or from any
mants of plots to
o to be determinad by the

metery Asscclptlon

“Example Lot Application Form”

Used to assign lots at the New Bluffton Cemetery

where families requested a specific lot, the names
of those to be moved were also listed, and the lot
requests were signed. As can be seen from the
example form, the applicants were assured that
there would be no cost involved to them. They
were also advised that applying for the lot did
not obligate them to move their loved one(s). A

“4 Detting Place of Reat”



26

plat of the new cemetery was posted at the Bluff-
ton Store, and each trustee also had copies of the
cemetery plat. Many families chose lots in close
proximity to each other. Lots along the main
driveway were considered the “choice” lots and
were in demand.

Ly
LS b

£ £ 1951

Bluffton Cemetery Assccistion Date

Bluffton, Texas

Gentlemen:

in the old Bluffton Cemetery,
4 Development Company preo-

metery through the
Hamilton

known a8 the

a n Cemstary

214 Bluffto
tombat

EaT izs in

] r, buat remove

Hew Bluffton Cemstary.
3, TRemovs bodies and tombstones and replace in

Burnet Cemetery.

atery site and

1l1ing to bear all

w interred in said
the bodies sithesr
% rnet Cematary,

cutlined in

tombetones and replace in Few Bluffton
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deceased.

he permission form gave four choices for the

relocation of the deceased. These choices
included requesting the moving of the bodies
and monuments to the New Bluffton Cemetery,
moving the monuments only to the New Bluffton
Cemetery, moving the bodies and
monuments to a Burnet cemetery
(or other cemetery), or moving
the monuments only to a Burnet,
or other cemetery. Spaces were
provided for listing the name(s) of
the deceased, and a place for sig-
natures of the relatives. As can be
seen in the example, forms were
numbered as they were received,
(over 550 forms were received)
and in many cases, the locations
of the deceased in the old cem-
etery were annotated on the form
as well. This was very helpful in
the locations of the bodies, and
then proved very helpful in later
research. Most indicated the fam-
ily relationship of the living who
were filling out the forms to those
whose remains were to be moved.

and be-

to be covered by
smes or markere and replace in

reement and reguest

Vary truly yours

“Example Permission Form”

Used to secure permission to move bodies from the river basin which would
be covered by the formation of Hamilton Lake.

Permission forms had to be completed by fam-
ily members before any body could be re-
moved from the cemetery. This involved a lot of
work on the part of the association staff. Many
picked up permission forms, filled them out, and
returned them promptly. However, many relatives
had to be located, letters had to be sent, and then
the permission forms had to be returned to the as-
sociation. This turned out to be a monumental
task with many letters written trying to identify,
find, and communicate with the relatives of the

In many cases, notes were includ-

acy, ite ed expressing the feelings of those

filling out the forms, most comple-
mentary, but some were not.
As permission forms began to
come in, arrangements were
made for the actual removal of
graves and their relocations. Con-
tracts were let with several undertaker firms, in-
cluding the C. B. Cook Company of Austin, and
the Buttery Funeral Home of Llano.
Once it was time to start relocating the bod-
ies, notifications had to be sent to relatives.
These notifications gave the name of the person
whose body would be moved, the location where
the body would be reinterred, and the date and
approximate time that the relocation would be
done.

“HA Fitting Place of Reor”
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But before the first grave §
relocations could be-
gin, the New Bluffton Cem-
etery got its first two occu-
pants. Imogene Clendennen,
the six year old daughter of &
Claud and Maggie Clenden- &
nen, passed away on May 8, &8
1931.2% Her father applied for &
lot 64 in the cemetery on May [
9, 1931.% Imogene was bur- St
ied in lot 64, grave 1, becom- | &=
ing the first to be buried in the &
New Bluffton Cemetery. The =
burial card for lot 64 is anno- |~
tated “This was the first burial
in this cemetery.”®

he second person to be

buried in the New Bluff-
ton Cemetery was Ollie Me-
ador. Ollie was a 21 year old young man who
was tragically killed as the result of a fire at a “gas
station” where he was working, near Briggs, in
Burnet County. There was some talk at the time
that he was possibly the victim of a robbery, and
the fire was caused by the robbers. Records show
that he passed away on June 22, 1931.2¢ His fa-

a-——

.,

“Grave Removals from the Old Bluffton Cemetery - July 21, 1931”
Undertakers removing the grave of Edna Earl Holland
Courtesy of LCRA Corporate Archives
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A,

“New Bluffton Cemetery - Decembef 12, 1931”
Notice the large number of graves in the background
Courtesy of LCRA Corporate Archives

ther, George W. Meador, had applied for lot 128
in the cemetery on March 31, 1931, and it was
less than three months before it would be used.?”
Ollie was buried in lot 128, grave 5. The Meadors
had two other relatives that were to be moved into
this lot, but the deceased relatives had yet to be
relocated.
Records show that the first
grave relocations occurred
on July 20, 1931. The first to
be moved were from the Hol-
land Cemetery. These includ-
¥ ed Hiram Casner, Nancy Ann
#4 Casner, Annie Lee Casner, two
unknown infants thought to be
Casners, and a Graham infant.
Moved from the Old Bluffton
Cemetery on this date include
e Mr. & Mrs. A. J. Perkins.®
Grave movements contin-
ued at a rapid pace from
this date. As of the end of Janu-
ary, 1932, 309 graves had been
moved. 276 had been moved
from the Old Bluffton Ceme-
tery, 21 from the Holland Cem-
etery, 4 from the O’Donnell

721/ 3.
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Cemetery, 3 from the Chestnutt Cemetery, 3 from
the Olney Cemetery, 1 from the baseline of the
dam, and 1 from Dick Maxwell’s field. Of these,
to the New Bluffton Cemetery-288, Odd Fellows
Cemetery in Burnet-15, Old Burnet Cemetery-3,
Post Mountain Cemetery in Burnet-2, and the
Board Branch Cemetery in Lone Grove-1.°

y far, the majority of those moved from the

basin of the lake were moved to the New
Bluffton cemetery. From the Old Bluffton Cem-
etery, of approximately 394 graves identified,
about 383 were moved to the New Bluffton Cem-
etery, and about 11 were moved to Burnet County
cemeteries.

hree other Bluffton people died and were bur-

ied in the New Bluffton Cemetery in 1931.
They were H. C. Benton, who died on July 24,
1931. I. V. Walters died on July 27, 1931. Final-
ly, Isaac Byler Maxwell, the 94 year old pioneer,
who helped found the community of Bluffton,
died on December 15, 1931, and was buried in
the New Bluffton Cemetery.
But, the job of grave relocations came to an

abrupt stop. On April 20, 1932, without pri-
or warning, work on Hamilton Dam ceased. The
dam was approximately 40% complete and over
$4,000,000 had been spent so
far.%

The Company
Went Brate

n the world of high finance, |*
Samuel Insull had gone broke. |
Emery, Peck, and Rockwood De- =
velopment Company, owned and
controlled by Insull, was forced
into bankruptcy. Samuel Insull
owned and controlled over sixty
companies and many other inde-
pendent companies depended on
his companies for their survival. =
As a result of the Insull em- |
pire collapse, literally hun- !
dreds of thousands lost their

The History of the Bluffton Cemetery

livelihoods overnight. The fall of Insull’s empire
helped result in placing the United States into a
devastating depression.
nsull at one time controlled an empire of $500
million, with less than $27 million in equity.
Once his businesses collapsed, he fled initially
to France. To avoid extradition, he then moved
to Greece. In 1934, through the assistance of the
Turkish government, he was sent back to the USA
to face charges of mail fraud and antitrust activi-
ties. He was defended by Floyd Thompson, a fa-
mous Chicago attorney and was found not guilty
of all charges. He and his wife subsequently
moved back to France.®
amuel Insull died in near poverty. An excerpt

from the internet site, Wikipedia, states:

“According to The New York Times, Mr. and Mrs.
Insull had arrived in Paris to see the Bastille Day
festivities. Insull suffered from a heart ailment, and
his wife Gladys had asked him not to take the Métro
because it was bad for his heart. Nevertheless, Insull
had made frequent declarations that he was ‘how a
poor man’ and descended a long flight of stairs at
the Place de la Concorde station and died of a heart
attack just as he stepped toward the ticket taker; he
had 30 francs (eighty four cents) in his pocket at the
time and was identified by a hotel laundry bill in his
pocket. Insull was receiving an annual pension total-
ing $21,000 from three of his for-
mer companies when he died.
Insull was buried near his parents
on July 23, 1938 in Putney Vale
Cemetery, London, the city of his
birth. His estate was found to be
worth about $1,000 and his debts
totaled $14,000,000, according to
his will.”

orkers on the Hamilton
Dam project were sud-
= denly left without jobs, and no
money. The locals, men from
Bluffton and Tow, went back
~ home, some walking. Others,
| continued to live in the construc-
tion settlements and basically
started living off the land, hunt-
ing and fishing, and raising gar-
dens for food.

he people of Bluffton now

had two cemeteries. The

‘A Fitting Place of Rest”
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Old Bluffton Cemetery had about 103 graves re-
maining. The New Bluffton Cemetery, had 288
who had been relocated to the new cemetery, and
5 who had died in 1931.

owever, as people continued to die after the

demise of Emery, Peck, & Rockwood, they
were buried at the New Bluffton Cemetery. In
1932, three were buried, in 1933, six were buried,
in 1934, three were buried, and in 1935, six were
buried in the new cemetery.
B ut, despite the fact that the Old Bluffton Cem-

etery was in a total state of disarray due to the
relocations of 276 graves, and was no longer fit
for use, one couple was buried there; Kate Max-
well, who died on July 15, 1932, and her husband
Richard (Dick), when he died on August 8, 1933.
Why would they be buried at the Old Bluffton
Cemetery? Well, Dick had been one of the four
who had signed the petition against moving the
old cemetery back in 1930. He had not given per-
mission to move any of his family; so five of his
family members were still buried in the old cem-
etery at the time of his and her deaths. So, they
were buried with their family, at the Old Bluff-
ton Cemetery. However,
in 1937, all seven of them
were relocated to the New
Bluffton Cemetery; some
of the last to be moved
from the old cemetery.

ome would tell you, “I

told you so.” Those
who objected to moving
the cemetery had doubts
that the dam would ever be
built, and this was proving
to be the case, with a big
chunk of concrete about 8
miles downstream block-
ing about half of the river
bed, and no one knew for
sure what would happen
to it. Almost a prophet,
Mrs. Will H. Goble, who
also had signed the peti-
tion against moving the
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old cemetery, wrote a letter to Emery, Peck, and
Rockwood in May of 1930, and said, *“...I am
not willing to do any thing about havin my folks
moved from where they are till that Dam is almost
finish. For one reason something might hapen
and the Dam might never be built and | hope it is
never built...””*

enator Wirtz did not give up on the dam. He

became receiver for Central Texas Hydro-
electric and tried to tap into the Public Works Ad-
ministration, a Roosevelt created project, which
his administration created in 1933, as part of its
New Deal. But, Wirtz’s efforts were not success-
ful, as PWA administrator Harold Ickes would not
allow any of the PWA’s funds to be used on pri-
vate projects.

0, Wirtz started working on a public Colorado

River authority. With the help of two Texas
congressmen, Joseph J. Mansfield, and James Bu-
chanan, he was successful in the creation of the
authority. Wirtz sweetened the pie for congress-

Hamilton Dam, February 28, 1932
“Two months before ‘the company’ went broke”
Courtesy LCRA Corporate Archives
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man Buchanan, by assuring him that the name of
the dam would be changed from Hamilton Dam,
to “Buchanan” Dam. So by the end of 1933,
Wirtz had funding lined up for the completion of
the dam. The only thing he needed now was a
governmental authority.

fter almost a year of political wrangling,

the Colorado River Authority was formed
on November 10, 1934. However, the name was
short-lived, as in 1935, two more river authorities
were created and were named the Upper and Cen-
tral Colorado River Authorities. So, the Colorado
River Authority became the Lower Colorado Riv-
er Authority - LCRA.*

Relocations to the Mew

y the second half of 1935, LCRA was getting
organized, and work began again on the now
known, Buchanan Dam project. LCRA corre-
spondence in the Bluffton Cemetery Association
Archives, regarding the cemetery, is found dating
as early as November, 1935.
he first thing that had to be done was the
cleaning of the cemetery. Evidently, during
the preceding three and a half years, upkeep had
not been done. Jim Maxwell was hired to do the
job.* Inaletter to L. C. Clark, Treasurer, by \er-
non Greer, Assistant to the Land Commissioner
of LCRA, a list of what was needed to clean the
New Bluffton Cemetery was requested. This in-
cluded:
4 common laborers
1 skilled concrete man
1 truck and driver
4 or more weed hoes
2 or more hand rakes
1 spade - or more
1 file - or more
1 ten qgt. bucket
1 axe
2 sacks cement
enough lumber to build a new 4x6 box for
mixing concrete

The History of the Bluffton Cemetery

The letter requested the use of the men until the
“program” was completed. It was estimated that
it would take six working days to complete the
cleanup.®
Another letter, dated January 23, 1936, re-
quested payment for labor on the New Bluff-
ton Cemetery. These men, and their jobs were
listed:
Name Hours Job Classification
Vernon Sydow 8 Concrete Finisher
Mack D. Davis 24 Truck Driver with
truck
Common Labor
Common Labor

Leslie Allen 40

A. N. Allen 40

D. G. Hallmark 40 Common Labor

Jack L. Maxwell 40 Common Labor?*®

In other correspondence found in the Bluffton

Cemetery Association Archives records, pay for

most labor was about forty cents per hour.

I n a letter to Senator Wirtz from Ray Summer-
row dated January 31, 1936, a summary of the

status of the grave relocation project to date was

given. Here are some of the details:

Old Bluffton Cemetery 282 moved
Old Bluffton Cemetery 112 to be moved
Holland Cemetery 6 moved

Holland Cemetery 13 to be moved
Chestnutt Cemetery 10 to be moved?*
This did not include those located in places like
the O’Donnell Cemetery, the Olney Cemetery,
a grave on I. B. Maxwell’s land, a grave in the
Behrn’s field, a grave on the Frazier property, and
possibly others. So, it is estimated that there were

at least 150 graves or so yet to be moved.
he actual process of moving graves began
again almost immediately. In a report dated
May 2, 1936, Vernon Greer stated that 77 graves
had been moved to that date. He stated that “Get-
ting along fine with the work, and every one is
well pleased.””®
It is not known exactly who all was involved
in the actual work of relocating the graves.
However, from time reports turned in during the
months of April and May of 1936, it is known that
the following men did work on the relocations: T.
C. Anthony, Joe Bible, D. J. Hallmark, E. E. Key,

‘A Fitting Place of Rest”



The “New” Bluffton Cemetery is Built

L. C. Littleton, Jim Maxwell, W. O. Maxwell, W.
B. Miller, A. N. Owens, A. A. Warden, and J. R.
Winn.* Of course there were most likely others
who worked relocating the graves during this time
period, but they are not reflected in records in the
Bluffton Cemetery Association Archives.

he actual process of moving the graves was a

31

should be added as one who worked on grave re-
locations) carefully removed a small bit of black-
ened soil that had once been an apple crate and a
tiny body, Jim Maxwell sat at the grave’s edge and
remembered a sad day sixty-six years before.” 4
He was referring to the Nelson infant girl that he
had buried, as a six year old, helping a one armed

difficult job. First, - w Mexican.
the deceased had to be Maxwell  Ashabranner ;' o owever, this was
identified, if possible. 1895-1917 NB";?J',;;”*' y o 1, not always the
Then the grave(s) had to ¥ case. In some cases,
be found. As has been Hallmark (=< ﬂ'\} bodies were recovered
seen in previous sec- gg::’ig “‘“ EJ that were in surpris-
tions of this book, find- 1910-1911 —= ingly good condition.

ing the graves had to be
a very difficult process.
The cemeteries were
grown up with weeds
and underbrush mak-
ing this exceptionally
hard. Once the general
area of the grave was o
known, the actual dig-
ging began. On the Old
Bluffton Cemetery plat
(pages 4 & 5), it can be
seen that sometimes, large holes had to be dug
before remains could be found. In the illustration
on this page, see the space that had to be dug up
to find the remains of the J. P. Shaw infant son.
This was not uncommon. Sometimes what was
thought to be a grave proved to be no grave at all.
During the years of 1936 and 1937, 16 “graves”
were dug up that did not prove to be graves.
Once a grave was opened, it was seldom that
an intact body was found. In many cases,
a few teeth, some bones, some buttons or other
clothing, or in some cases, only discolored earth
was found. Bill Hallmark stated that when his
great grandfather Caleb Davis’ remains were re-
located, only one leg bone was identified.> Mr.
Davis, 79 years old when he died in November
of 1908, had been buried for 21 years. In C. L.
Yarbrough’s book, CANYON OF THE EAGLES
he tells of Jim Maxwell having this recollection.
“...of one he was very certain, as Mike Walters (he

Grave site of J. P. Shaw Infant Son
Moved to New Bluffton Cemetery on Novemeber 6, 1931
Courtesy LCRA Corporate Archives

Karylon “Bitsy” Hall-
mark Russell said that
her father Aubrey Hall-
mark related that some

e

0, YIII]'*\J'
NS

Dg‘gs }T 9”39 of the remains in the
Toy Lee

51140 b/d ? Holland Qemetery were

- » ! in surprisingly good
N condition. It seems to

have been a function of
the moisture in the soil
at the various grave lo-
cations.

egardless of the condition of the remains of

the deceased however, they were treated with
respect and dignity. As was stated earlier, on the
day of relocation, the area around the grave was

“Hearse Used to Relocate Bodies from the Old Bluffton
Cemetery to the New Bluffton Cemetery” - July 21, 1931
Courtesy LCRA Corporate Archives
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roped off, and only relatives and those working
on the actual removals and relocations were al-
lowed to be present. All remalns from a shovel
full of earth, to an intact body %

and casket, were placed in a &

by a hearse, not loaded in the 3
back of a truck, or anything like §
that. :
By the end of 1936, 103 FE
graves had been removed
from the basin of the Colorado
River during that year. This left
an estimated 47-50 graves to be
moved. Some were families,
primarily the Jim and Richard
Maxwell families, who would not give permis-
sion to remove their family members, until they
settled on the purchase of their properties by the
LCRA. The majority of the others were unknowns
and several, whose families would not agree o
move them. The LCRA
went to court and got
court orders to remove
these remaining bodies.
So, by May of 1937,

Remalns of Shovel found at Old Bluffton
Cemetery in fall, 2011
Probably used to move graves
to New Bluffton Cemetery

The History of the Bluffton Cemetery

now deceased, when approached by Emery, Peck
and Rockwood, had wanted her to remain where
she was flrst buried. So, the LCRA relented, and
BE =17 she was not moved. From the
| best investigation of the re-
~. L cords at that time, this appears
to be the only person whose
1 remains were covered by Lake
e " Buchanan. It might be noted
& here that O. K. Chesnut was
%% a very colorful figure in early
++ Burnet/Llano Counties history.
< **51; It would be worthwhile to read
o C. L. Yarbrough’s account of
O. K., in his book CANYON
OF THE EAGLES. In fact,
Mr. Yarbrourgh reported in his
book that when O. K. was ap-
proached about moving his mother, he refused,
and reportedly said, “Where a good tree falleth,
there let it lay.”
n May 20, 1937, the gates of Lake Buchanan
were closed and water started collecting in

Hamilton Dam, Texsas
January 26, 1932
Report:Mr. Rawls

the LCRA had permis- RECORD OF %}f‘{fﬁygﬁﬁ?ﬁ% TC‘iMETET—lIES UNDER
sion to remove all the s e i
remaining graves in the
basin to be covered b oved from 01d -uf ton Cemetery 276
. 21
Moved from Holland Cemetery
Lake BUChar.]ar_l' Moved from OVD a’rell Cemetery S
ell, this is not en- | Meved from Chestnut Cemetery 3
i Moved from Qlney O emetery i,
tlrely true. Mrs. Moved from Base line of Dam 1
Samantha Chesnut (OI’ Yoved from R. Maxwell's Fleld 1
Chestnutt - it is spelled Total 309
both ways in early doc-
uments), the mother of  wavo %o Hew alu{fton gea.e:ery e%
koved to Odd Fellows emetery
0. K. Cheant’ was left Voved ;o 0ld Burnet Cemetery 3
in the Chesnut Cem- L,ced to Post Mountain C emetery ?
etery to be covered by Moved to Lone Grove Qemetery p &
' - . —11-:]
the lake when it filled. 299

Relatives were in a bat-
tle over the Chesnut es-
tate, and her son O. K.,

“Record of Grave Removals from Cemeteries Under Hamilton Dam Project”

January 26, 1932

Bluffton Cemetery Asssociation Archives

‘A Fitting Place of Rest”



The “New” Bluffton Cemetery is Built

e

33

Summary of Graves moved by LCRA in 1936 & 1937
Bluffton Cemetery Association Archives

the lake basin. However, all of the graves had
yet to be moved. In fact, records show that there
were still 33 to be moved. By May 27th, these
were moved, and this brought to an end the relo-
cations of the dead in the Colorado River basin.
M oving the deceased proved to be amuch big-
ger job than anyone at the time could have
imagined. In fact, back in 1931, Emery, Peck and
Rockwood had estimated that all graves could be
moved by the end of 1932! In the final analysis,
it appears that 459 graves were moved, 309 by
Emery, Peck & Rockwood, and 150 by LCRA.
Of these, 422 were moved to the New Bluffton
Cemetery, 13 to the Post Mountain Cemetery, 19
to Oddfellows Cemetery, 3 to Old Burnet Cem-
etery, and 2 to Board Branch in Lone Grove.*
0, all but one had been removed from the river
bottom. But, that was not all, during the time
from 1931 through June of 1937, 35 additional
burials had occurred at the cemetery. So, as of the
end of June, 1937, there were 457 persons buried
in the New Bluffton Cemetery.
s can be seen from the next page, the lake
began to rise very quickly. It was expected

that it could take three, to maybe four years to fill
I_Lake Buchanan. However, within a year the lake
was at more than 80% capacity. Then, on July 22,
1938, due to heavy rains upstream, the lake began
to fill rapidly. The lake only lacked 5 feet being
full, so not having the capacity necessary for the
incoming water, flood gates began to be opened.
In all, 20 gates were opened which allowed a tre-
mendous amount of water to go flooding down
the Colorado River. Below Austin there was ex-
tensive flooding and there was criticism that Bu-
chanan Dam caused the flood. An investigation
followed, and it was found that indeed the dam
kept the flooding from being much worse.

o, finally, the old communities covered by

the waters of Lake Buchanan ceased to exist.
The New Bluffton Cemetery became the symbol
to the past to those who had established commu-
nities along the river. It is fitting that the New
Bluffton Cemetery serves as a living testimony,
among the dead, of those who blazed the trail for
those generations that followed, and to those who
continue to follow.
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W . Px Rising Waters under and around the
Ty : Old Bluffton Bridge during the summer of 1937

Top Left - Waters of Lake Buchanan rising under the Old
Bluffton Bridge

Middle - View looking north at the rising waters of the
lake, from the middle of the Old Bluffton Bridge

Bottom Right - Waters of Lake Buchanan surrounding the
Old Bluffton Bridge

These pictures were taken by the author’s uncle, Leland
Hallmark, and are dated July 1937, Fox Company, San
Antonio, Texas. It is not known exactly what dates the
pictures were taken.
Photos courtesy Leland Halimark Estate, daughter Linnie
Ora Hallmark Osbourn and husband Weldon Osbourn
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